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Fact File: Charles W. Bullock CMG 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Surname: BULLOCK 

First names: Charles William 

Date of Birth: 22 July 1880 

Place of Birth: Morpeth, Northumberland, England 

Personal features: 5’7” in height 

Nationality: British 

Religion: Church of England 

Status: Married to Margaret Theresa Bullock (née Sanders) b. 1885; two children, daughters 

Shirley and Elizabeth 

Date of Death: 1 November 1952 

Place of Death: Salisbury, Southern Rhodesia 

Occupation at time of death: Retired civil servant (Secretary for Native Affairs, Southern 

Rhodesia) 

Buried: Salisbury Cemetery 
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The Early Years 

Charles was born on 22 July 1880 at ‘Spring Gardens’, Bullers Green, Morpeth, 

Northumberland, the home of his parents, William and Isabella (a former Scottish school 

mistress). He was their fourth child.  

 

 

 
Northumberland Birth Register entry under Bullock 

 

 

 

 
Certified copy of Charles Bullock’s birth certificate 

 

Charles was first ‘counted’ in the 1881 census when he was eight months old. He had three 

siblings at that time: Eleanor (6), Herbert (4), and Elizabeth (2). At the time of the census, 

they were staying at Bolland School, Bullers Green Parish, where William, the father, was a 

teacher.  
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1881 Census 

 

It is interesting to note that they had a house servant, 19-year-old Mary Leathard, so William 

Bullock, as a headmaster, would have been relatively well off. He was certainly a very 

respected member of the community. 

 

 
Built in 1860, the school was paid for by Mrs Bolland, the widow of a Morpeth curate. It was built 

as a day industrial school for the ‘half- neglected children on the north side of Newgate Street’. 

 

The 1891 Census reveals that the 10-year-old Charles now had a younger brother, Arthur (8). 

The oldest sibling, Eleanor, now 16, is listed as a trainee teacher. William is shown as a 

headmaster. The family now resides at 107 Newgate Street in Morpeth. 

 

 
1891 Census 
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Education 

Charles attended Edward VI Grammar School, Morpeth. The boys-only school admitted 

pupils who were seven to eight years old. In the absence of specific records (none could be 

found), it would be fairly accurate therefore, to assume that Charles was at the school from 

about 1887–8 to 1895, when he started working at the age of fifteen. 

 

 
King Edward VI Grammar School Morpeth 1859 

 

The King Edward VI Morpeth Grammar School traces its origins back to Chantry Chapel 

where, in c. 1310, arrangements were made by local citizens for the education of young boys 

by the Chantry priests. King Edward VI re-founded the school in 1552. The school remained 

at the Chapel until 1846, when it moved to the Conservative Club in Newgate Street. In 1859, 

twenty pupils occupied the new school buildings and grounds, pictured above.  

Fees of £5.00 per annum were charged for the basic subjects of Latin, Greek and English 

Grammar. Extra charges were levied for additional subjects, which included English 

Literature, French, German, Geography, History, Drawing, Maths, Religious Knowledge, and 

Natural Philosophy (science). A drill sergeant was engaged to teach drill.  

By 1888, the school’s enrolment stood at 110 pupils. At this time, many pupils travelled to 

Morpeth by train. The Headmaster used his binoculars (so legend has it) to detect, from a 

high window in his house, those “creeping like snail unwillingly to school” from the station; 

they hoped no doubt to miss assembly – where there were lessons and prayers, but no hymn 

singing. From quite  long  distances, other pupils walked or cycled  or  rode  ponies,  which  

were  mainly  stabled  at  the  Old Nag’s  Head in  Newgate Street. Except for the boarders 

(ten in the 1881 census, with three servants in the Headmaster’s house), there were, of course, 

no school dinners in those days; pupils brought their ‘nose-bags’ daily, and ate where 

convenient, frequently outdoors. 
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‘King of the Castle’, was the favourite game of smaller boys, one team standing at the top of 

a steep slope, while  ‘Tiggy’  was  the popular  game at the  back  of  the school  when time 

was limited. The great hobby of the period was philately, swapping rather than buying 

stamps, such as exchanging apples or eatables for stamps. There were no prefects at this time, 

only form monitors – to be chosen for one was considered a great honour. One of the main 

tasks was to pour out the weekly ration of ink in the ‘ink cistern’.  

School uniforms did not exist then, but Eton collars and sailor suits were much in vogue. As 

for school furniture,  there  were  blackboards  and  slates,  and  heavy iron-framed four-

seaters; virtually indestructible (some  were still in  use in  the  1950s).  

A  regular feature of school life was the setting and writing  of  annual  essays  with  such  

titles as ‘Modesty’, ‘Lying, ‘True Politeness’ and ‘Family Affection’. A prize of one guinea 

was awarded for the best essay, and half that amount for the runner-up. 

In 1888, the Inspectorate reported most highly on the general tone, work and discipline, the 

latter maintained without any apparent effort on the part of the school staff. There was, in 

fact, not much caning done: any that was done, was inflicted on the hands, while teacher 

Sandy Kenner often gave sharp reminders on the knuckles with his ruler. A few hundred 

‘culpas’ or long-division sums were the usual effective punishment. 

 

 
Staff and Pupils, Morpeth Grammar School, 1884 

Charles’s older brother, Herbert, is most likely in this photo 
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The following is an extract of the 1896 school prospectus found under the foundation stone of 

the west wing of the old building of Edward VI Grammar School in Morpeth. The Bullock 

mentioned would, in all likelihood, have been Charles’s younger brother, Arthur: 

 

The following Honours were gained in 1896 by boys in the School:-  

Science & Art Department Examinations: 

Physiography: Advanced Class II: Dickenson, Scott, Walker, Laws, Crake. 

                           Elementary, Pass: Moor, Gillespie, Langdale. 

                                                Fair: Hall, Gerachty, Elliott, Fairbairn, Whittle, Swan. 

Mathematics: Stage I, Pass: Bullock, Walker, Scott. 

                                     Fair: Langdale, Moor, Whittle, Dickenson. 

Theoretical Chemistry: Elementary Pass:  Scott. 

                                                          Fair: Bullock, Laws, Walker. 

Freehand Drawing: Results not yet received. 

Durham University Examination of' Proficiency in General Education: Scott.  

Registration Examination of' the General Medical Council: Scott. 

Shorthand: County Council Examinations: Stage I: Fairbairn, Bullock, Whittle, Gerachty. 

 

 

 

 

 
Former Morpeth Grammar School buildings (1966),  

where Charles received his schooling 
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Working in Britain 

 

 

 

Stables on Newgate Street, Morpeth 1900; the street where the Bullocks resided 

Upon leaving school, and at the age of fifteen, in 1895 Charles got his first job, with a town 

solicitor, Charles Alderson. He remained here until the autumn of 1900, when he acquired a 

job as a clerk at the Northumberland County Asylum. 

By the time of the 1901 Census, the family was still at the same address, and three more 

children had been added – Phillip (15), Leonard (13), and Constance (11) – making a total of 

eight. Arthur is no longer listed, but the reason for this is unknown. He would have been 18, 

so he would most likely have left home. Eleanor has also fledged. At 57, William continues 

as headmaster of the school. Herbert (24) is a solicitor’s clerk; Elizabeth (22) also a teacher; 

and Phillip (15), a clerk with an ironmonger.  

1901 Census 
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Charles (20) is, by this time, working as a clerk at the county asylum. 

The Northumberland County Pauper Lunatic Asylum opened on 16 March 1859. Situated in 

Cottingwood, the magnificent Victorian building was built in the Italian style of red brick 

with stone dressings. Designed by Henry Welsh, it was originally built to accommodate about 

200 male and female patients. Drawn by the architect John Cresswell, this beautiful plan 

(below) gives a three dimensional view of the asylum and its grounds. The apartments on the 

west side were for female inmates, while males were situated on the east. Surrounding the 

buildings were pleasure and kitchen gardens as well as a stone chapel and brewery. In 1890, 

the asylum was renamed the County Mental Hospital, then in 1937 the name was changed to 

St. George’s Hospital. In 2006 St Georges Park, a purpose-built mental health hospital was 

built on the old St. George’s site. 

 

 
Architect John Cresswell’s drawing of the sprawling buildings of the asylum 

 

 
Morpeth County Asylum 
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During these first five foundation years of Charles’s working life, he came to the attention of 

local county councillor and Liberal representative, Robert Nicholson. Nicholson was so taken 

with the young Charles, that he managed to get local peer, Charles Robert Grey, 5th Earl 

Grey, interested in him. This proved to be the first real step towards Charles’s future success.  

After Charles carried out a special study of ‘agricultural’ cooperation in Ireland, under the 

then Secretary for Agriculture, Sir Horace Plunkett (also Blunkett), he was sent out to 

Rhodesia by Earl Grey to investigate and report on the feasibility of introducing similar 

measures in the colony. However, the young Charles was not impressed. 

The farming industry in Rhodesia was still in a very ‘raw state’, so Charles reported that the 

time was not yet right to introduce a similar scheme to that operating in Britain. 

Charles was, however, taken by the climate in Rhodesia, so he decided to stay.  
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Rhodesia 

These are four newspapers and respective article headlines, from which much was gleaned 

about the life and times of Charles Bullock: 
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On 19 August 1903, the twenty-three-year-old Charles left for South Africa, ‘the climatic 

conditions being particularly beneficial to his health’. He sailed from London on the 2,089-

ton Hyades – one of only four passengers, so it was most likely a cargo vessel (see passenger 

list below). 

 

 
Union Castle liners in the East India Dock, London, 1903 

 

 
Union Castle liners in Cape Town, 1903 
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He joined the Rhodesian Civil Service in 1903, entering the Law Department under Mr E.L. 

Brailsford. Being attracted by the indigenous habits and customs, he made a special study of 

this branch of government work, and in April 1904, he transferred to the Native Department. 

In a Rhodesian Civil Establishment register of the time, Charles is listed as having joined the 

civil service – presumably the Department of Native Affairs – in April 1904 as a clerk, a 

position he still held at 1 December 1907. His annual salary, with no allowances, was 

£300.00. 

 

 
Rhodesian Civil Establishment register early 1900s 
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An early Native Affairs sub-office 

 

The Native Department strongly appealed to Charles, and after several years of meticulous 

study and research, in 1912 he published Mashona Law and Customs, the first ethnographical 

work on the life of Rhodesia’s main tribal group, the Mashona.  

This work provided the foundation for all his subsequent investigations, and fifteen years 

later in 1927, Charles published The Mashona: The Indigenous Natives of S. Rhodesia, a 

seminal work that became prescribed reading for the University of South Africa, as well as 

universities overseas.  

Always a student, Charles’s knowledge of Rhodesia and its peoples became thoroughly 

comprehensive, as he served in eighteen different stations. He was called on to serve as 

acting Chief Native Commissioner on no fewer than five occasions. 

It was at about the turn of the century that the ‘bandits’, known to all members of the Native 

Department, first made their appearance. They were convicts, and there were always a 

number on every station, held in custody from a variety of court cases. The jail was usually at 

the police camp and the convicted prisoners, all male adults, included persons found guilty of 

anything from theft to murder, serving sentences varying from a few weeks to several 

months. They were housed and fed at the police camp, and provided the labour for the 

station. 
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Many bandits thoroughly enjoyed their stay in jail where, in return for a certain amount of 

daily work, they slept and ate in comfort, which was in contrast to their normal 

circumstances. Gradually, the bandits became a part of the scene on any Native  Department  

station, and they seemed to develop a special character. 

One night, a banging on his door disturbed Charles Bullock. There had been a heavy storm, 

but it was over and in the ensuing silence, the knocking and the sounds of a shuffling crowd 

of people outside awakened him. 

“Who is it?” he called. 

“It is the bandits,” came the reply, “Please, Inkosi, where can we sleep? The wall of our jail 

has fallen in.” 

“Sleep anywhere you like and where you can find shelter, but don't disturb me till the 

morning,” Charles called, knowing full well no-one would even attempt to run away. He was 

quite right. The bandits were all waiting patiently for him next morning, and helped rebuild 

the jail walls under his direction. 

 

 

 
 

A 1927 group photographs of Nativer Commissioners. 

Charles Bullock is stood third from the right in the back row, the only wearing a hat. 
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In Lynette Jackson’s book, Surfacing Up: Psychiatry and Social Order in Colonial 

Zimbabwe, 1908-1968, in a chapter where she addresses high levels of African female 

migration into, amongst others, the city of Bulawayo, she writes that successive Chief Native 

Commissioners, in their annual reports, make reference to fears amongst urban males about 

females getting out of hand. In 1932, Charles Bullock reported that the subject of the “new 

freedom of women” was “repeatedly brought up at meetings of the district native boards”. In 

one meeting, which Charles had attended that year, a delegation of Mfengu elders had 

complained, as reported by one Chief Native Commissioner, that, “the results of the 

emancipation of native women under our laws are not all to the good”. They asked for 

“government control or assistance to enable them to keep their women at home, alleging that 

modern conditions, especially motor transport facilities, are causing a serious increase in 

immorality.”   

In 1935, the CNC Charles Bullock informed Southern Rhodesia’s Prime Minister that: 

“The cinematograph has immense potentialities as an instrument of instruction, as well as of 

wholesome entertainment, which may serve to stop undue drift to towns. Films may also have 

an important function in supersedence (sic) of certain superstitions which are inimical to 

healthy life and progress”. 

With his full-time appointment as Chief Native Commissioner in 1936, Charles was qualified 

and experienced to perform as Secretary for Native Affairs, President of the Native Appeal 

Court, and Director of Native Development, in addition to being Chief Native Commissioner. 

In 1941, Charles was president of his local Rotary Club. 

The ‘cattle-complex notion’ was universally accepted in Africa, and for Rhodesia, the 

analysis by Charles, now former Chief Native Commissioner, who had served for a very long 

time in the Native Affairs Department, was typical:  
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“In the present state of world food supplies and especially of the shortage of the butcher’s 

meat which is our chief source of proteins, the religious and social significance attached to 

cattle by the Bantu tribes (diminishing as it may be) is yet a matter of material importance. It 

is not in accord with our view that cattle are kept simply to supply us with milk and meat, and 

to these ends, purchase and sale should be untrammelled by any clogs on trade.  

In tribal life, these are quite alien conceptions. Cattle were not for sale — a foreign and 

reprehensible thought. They can leave the family in life only to bring to it a bride. In death, 

they should provide the sacrifices that the spirits demanded. This attitude may seem absurd to 

our commercialized world, but it should be realized that in all primitive social organizations 

the tribe, clan or other group does not distinguish the religious institution from that of the 

state; and where social evolution has reached the pasturage, cattle have almost invariably 

some part in the sacred cult.  

It becomes natural, then, to look on cattle as something more than an adjunct of the family … 

bound not to an individual as stock valued at so much per head, but to the group — past, 

present and future. The dead ancestors are linked with the living men of the family in the 

common wish that the clan may increase and multiply and cattle are the medium for mating 

with this all important end in view. There was even an inhibitory sentiment against using 

them in exchange for such secondary needs as hoes (although this did take place); and even 

in times of famine spiritual sanction was sought before they were bartered for grain.” 

 

 
A remote Native Commissioner’s rest house 

 

 

Shortly after WWII, in 1946 the sixty-six-year-old Charles wrote to an old friend of his, 

Alderman William Sanderson, in Morpeth: 

“I am talking as if I might see the old town (and you) soon, but there is not much hope of that. 

I could not get a passage before 1948; and, in any case, I don’t think it would be playing 

game to visit England in her present state.” 
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Charles also writes in the letter that, in his leisure time, he learned Afrikaans, which he 

described as being easy, saying it was “very like” the Northumbrian dialect. He expressed a 

desire to establish an Afrikaans-English Society, in an attempt to, “… improve the 

relationship between those who were opponents in the Boer War.”  

In 1950, The Morpeth Herald and Reporter carried an article about Charles’s latest book, The 

Mashona and the Matabele, in which it stated: 

“After the Boer War, many from the ‘Old Country’ recognised the possibilities of South 

Africa and the part she was destined to play in the world history of the future. They not only 

read ‘the writing on the wall’, but were prepared to take their share in that work; and from 

town and country took passage into the somewhat little-known to try and lay the foundations 

for trades and industries, which were to make their presences felt in almost every part of the 

world. Among those early pioneers might be named Mr. Charles Bullock, son of the late Mr. 

William Bullock, that gifted schoolmaster of half a century ago.” 

The book, which carried a foreword by former Southern Rhodesia Governor, Sir Herbert 

Stanley GCMG, was described as “a handsome book with a gilt cover”, and sold for 21/-. 

In his later years, Charles was appointed Boy Scouts Chief Commissioner for the Salisbury 

District, and an Executive Member of the Scientific Association. 

Charles went on retirement in 1940, having spent thirty-seven years in the Civil Service. 
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Military Service 

On 3 April 1915, Charles sailed on board the SS Saxon from Cape Town to Plymouth, for 

purposes of enlisting in the British Army for the duration of WWI. 

 

Inns of Court Officer Training Corps 

Charles attested into the British Territorial Army for four years on 17 June 1915. He decided 

to go to war when he was almost 35-years old. His given service number was 4270. At the 

same time, he applied to the Inns of Court Officer Training Corps/Regiment (Lincoln Court), 

Berkhamsted, for a temporary commission in the regular army for the duration of the war.  

On his application form, Charles gives his permanent address as Woodstock, King’s Gate, 

Aberdeen. There are no properties named Woodstock or situated precisely on the site of 

Woodstock Road in first or second edition ordnance survey maps, but Woodstock Road does 

appear to be established by the time the 1921–30 one-inch series is mapped. It has not been 

ascertained why Charles was living in Aberdeen at the time, but he had Scottish connections 

through his mother, so may well have been living with a family member. 

On the form, Charles gives Morpeth School and Cape University as where he was educated. 

It must be noted, however, his reference to Cape University is not mentioned at all anywhere 

else, and approaches to the University of Cape Town have gone unanswered. He also 

indicates that he served with the Southern Rhodesia Volunteers from 1903–8. 

At Berkhamsted, Charles trained with No. 3 and No. 4 Companies. 

 

 

 
Inns of Court Regiment badge 
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Charles Bullock’s attestation into the British Territorial Force, p1 
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Charles Bullock’s attestation into the British Territorial Force, p2 
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Charles Bullock’s application for officer training at the Inns of Court 
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Information was gleaned from a paper written by the Corps commanding officer, Lieutenant-

Colonel F.H.L. Errington, CB, VD, covering the period 28 March 1913 to 1 September 1916. 

Charles was undergoing officer training at the Corps during this period, so this provides a 

very good insight into his training. 

On 1 August 1914, the Corps establishment was one squadron of cavalry and three 

companies of infantry – in all 424 officers and men. Its actual strength, however, was only 

268. On 22 September 1914, its infantry establishment was increased to eight companies of 

infantry, making four double companies; and in August 1915, to six double companies. Its 

actual strength on 1 March 1915, was 1,083, and by 1 January 1916, 4,008. By the end of the 

war, 13,800 men had passed through its ranks, of whom between 11,000 and 12,000 had 

received commissions. The total number of men killed was 2,100, and of wounded 5,000. 

The honours gained were about 2,800, including three Victoria Crosses.  

Although no actual record was kept, it is calculated that some 130,000 candidates were 

interviewed by the Corps Selection Committees, with only about one in ten being accepted. 

The cost of a three months’ training on an officers’ training course was: 

 Three months’ pay at 1/- per day  

 Kit allowance at 2d per day  

 Ration allowance at 1/9 per day  

The cost of a three months’ training after commission: 

 Three months’ pay at 7/6 per day  

 Ration allowance at 1/9 per day  

In addition, each officer received a £50.00 outfit allowance, which was, of course, a great 

deal more than the cost of providing a private soldier’s uniform, and which was entirely lost 

to the country if the commissioned officer, who was, in any such cases where – not tested 

until he had received his commission – he proved to be unsuitable.  

 

 
 

Inns of Court Badge 
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The history of the Depot at Lincoln’s Inn began with the transfer of the Corps from London 

to Berkhamsted, in September 1914. The chief function of the Depot was the selection of 

candidates for admission to the Corps, but for a time, recruits were clothed and armed there, 

and received the first part of their training. During this period, the establishment at Lincoln’s 

Inn carried on the work of an ordinary regimental depot. At a later stage, the recruits were 

sent down to Berkhamsted to join the Corps immediately after attestation.  

Recruiting involved two problems: the attraction of candidates to the Depot, and the selection 

of suitable men from those who presented themselves. After filling in the appropriate forms, 

the applicant appeared for an interview before a committee consisting of two or three of the 

members of the Selection Committee. When recruiting was brisk, it was found necessary at 

times to have as many as five or six of these committees sitting at the same time. The 

committee, after conversation with the candidate, formed their opinion as to his suitability,  

deciding there and then whether to accept or reject.  

If accepted, the candidate was passed on to the OC Depot. Rejection by a committee was 

treated as final, but acceptance required final confirmation by the OC Depot. If the OC 

Depot, when the accepted candidate came before him, felt any doubt as to his suitability, he 

either rejected the candidate, or referred the case for further consideration by a larger 

committee of at least four members, whose decision was final.  

 

 
During a review of the Inns of Court Volunteers by King George III in Hyde Park in 1803, King 

George used his dislike for lawyers – particularly ones carrying arms – to name the massed ranks 

of the Law Association as "The Devil's Own". It is understood that the King was in high health and 

excellent spirits at the time. When the 'Temple companies' had defiled before him, His Majesty 

enquired of Lord David Erskine, who commanded them, as lieutenant-colonel, what was the 

composition of that corps? 'They are all lawyers, Sire,' said Erskine. 'What! What! 'exclaimed the 

King, 'all lawyers? all lawyers? Call them the Devil's Own, call them the Devil's Own!" "And the 

Devil's Own they were called accordingly since. With Charles Bullock very much into the legal 

fraternity, the nickname was very apt during his time at Berkhamsted. 
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Company training at Berkhamsted was conducted in accordance with the principles laid down 

in the official manuals, and in the spirit infused into the Corps by its commanding officer. 

The object, always kept steadily in view, was to train men to be officers. This differentiated 

the training, not merely in the details of the curriculum, but still more in spirit, from the 

training of an ordinary battalion. The quality ultimately aimed at was leadership, to be built 

up on a solid foundation of drill and discipline, with a superstructure of knowledge and 

practice in command, and with full emphasis on the moral qualities needed in those who have 

to lead men in the field. The maxim of Napoleon (the truth of which has been so irrefutably 

established during the war), that the moral is to the material as three to one, lies at the basis of 

Company training as much as of the major operations of war. 

Qualities needed for an officer or soldier were imbedded in training: in discipline, sanitation, 

musketry, march discipline, entrenchment, tactical principles, advance guards (also rear 

guards and flank guards), outposts, attack, defence, trench warfare, map-reading, scouting 

and reconnaissance, night operations, village and wood fighting, messages, wire 

entanglements, military law, and principles of strategy and tactics, historically illustrated. 

In his service record, Charles is discharged from the Officers’ Training Corps on 10 

September 1915, and commissioned into the 9th (Reserve) Battalion, the King’s Shropshire 

Light Infantry.  

 
Badge of the King’s Shropshire Light Infantry 

 

The London Gazette announced Charles’s commission into the Shropshire Light Infantry: 

 

SUPPLEMENT TO THE LONDON GAZETTE, 20 SEPTEMBER, 1915. 9305 

The King’s (Shropshire Light Infantry). 

The undermentioned to be temporary Second Lieutenants, dated 10th September, 1915: 

Charles Bullock. 
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Charles Bullock’s discharge from the Inns of Court Corps 

 

In January 1916, Charles was transferred to the Machine Gun Corps, and on 16 May, he left 

from Southampton for France, arriving at Le Havre the following day. At this time, he was 

with the 113th Company, Machine Gun Corps, serving in France and Belgium. 

The 113th Machine Gun Company joined 113th Brigade, 38th (Welsh) Division on the 19th 

of May 1916.  

 

 

 
 

Badges of the Machine Gun Corps 
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Charles Bullock’s Machine Gun Corps Service Record 

 

 
WWI Vickers machine-gun post on the lookout for German aircraft 
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The Vickers machine gun, or Vickers gun, was the water-cooled .303 British machine gun 

produced by Vickers Limited, originally for the British Army. The machine gun typically 

required a six- to eight-man team to operate: one fired, one fed the ammunition, the rest 

helped to carry the weapon, its ammunition, and spare parts. The weapon had a reputation for 

great solidity and reliability. In August 1916, 100th Company of the Machine Gun Corps 

fired their ten Vickers guns continuously for twelve hours. Using 100 new barrels, they fired 

a million rounds without a single failure.  

As part of the Battle of the Somme, the 38th (Welsh) Division, in which Charles and his 

machine-gun company found themselves, was detailed to attack and capture Mametz Wood, 

the largest wood on the whole Somme battlefront. Nearly a mile wide and over a mile deep, 

Mametz was made up of thick trees and dense undergrowth. The wood was heavily fortified 

with machine guns, trenches and mortars, and was defended by the well-trained and elite 

Lehr Regiment of Prussian Guards. 

The men of the 38th were amateur soldiers, full of enthusiasm and courage but, like many of 

Kitchener’s co-called New Army who fought on the Somme, they were poorly trained, ill-

equipped, and badly hampered by the tactics of their commanders. 

The Battle of Mametz Wood began six days after the launch of the Battle of the Somme on 1 

July 1916. The wood was intended to be taken in a matter of hours, but the battle lasted for 

five days as the Germans fiercely resisted the assaults of the Welsh Division. On the first day 

alone, over 400 casualties were sustained.  

Over the five days that the battle raged, Mametz Wood was devastated as artillery shells fell 

continuously on the area. Fighting was furious, characterised by hand-to-hand combat, as 

men battled for every inch of ground.  

Casualty figures for the Welsh Division amounted to forty-six officers and 556 other ranks 

killed. When the wounded and those listed as “missing” – men blown to pieces or buried 

alive by shell blasts – were counted, the total number of casualties was 3,993.  

 

 
The Dragon of the 38th (Welsh) Division Memorial faces Memetz Wood, the scene of so much 

slaughter of Charles Bullock’s brothers-in-arms during the Battle of the Somme 
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Yet despite achieving their objectives and driving the Germans back to their second line of 

defences, the Welsh Division was never given real recognition for its achievement. There was 

even an accusation that the division had failed to advance with enough spirit – in other words, 

the men were accused of cowardice. 

Charles’s next promotion was announced in the London Gazette: 

 

10836 SUPPLEMENT TO THE LONDON GAZETTE, 9 NOVEMBER, 1916 

MACHINE GUN CORPS (INFANTRY) 

The undermentioned to be temporary lieutenants:  

5 July 1916 

Temp. 2nd Lt. C. Bullock. 

 

On 22 November, Charles was appointed second-in-command of the 101st Machine Gun 

Company. 

The 101st Machine Gun Company, Machine Gun Corps, joined 101st Brigade, 34th Division, 

on 27 April 1916. They were in action during the battles of the Somme, including the capture 

of Scots and Sausage Redoubts in the Battle of Albert, and the Battles of Bazentin Ridge and 

Pozieres Ridge. The order of battle of the 34th Division was: 

101st Brigade   

15th Bn, the Royal Scots  

16th Bn, the Royal Scots  

10th Bn, the Lincolnshire Regiment  

11th Bn, the Suffolk Regiment  

101st Machine Gun Company (joined 27 April 1916)  

101st Trench Mortar Battery  

2/4th Bn, the Queens  

1/4th Bn, the Royal Sussex Regiment 

2nd Bn, the Loyal North Lancashire Regiment 

The 34th Division lost 6,811 casualties from 1–5 July alone. 

 
A rare contemporary image of the Battle of Memetz Wood raging 
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On 19 March 1917, Charles transferred to the South African Native Labour Corps (SANLC). 

He was subsequently promoted to the rank of Acting Captain, as appeared in the London 

Gazette: 

 

SUPPLEMENT TO THE LONDON GAZETTE, 26 MARCH, 1918; 3737 

OVERSEAS CONTINGENTS, SOUTH AFRICA. 

Labour Corps. 

Temp. Lt. C. Bullock to be acting Captain, while commanding a Company, 10 February 

1918. 

 

A total of 25,000 South Africans joined the SANLC, of which 21, 000 left South Africa for 

France. The SANLC was part of a general labour force consisting of Chinese, Japanese, 

Indian, Egyptian, French, Canadian and British as well German prisoners-of-war. Their task 

was to construct and maintain the infrastructure necessary for military operations. They were 

employed in loading and unloading in French ports, building roads, working on railways, 

quarrying and forestry. The SANLC companies were employed in laying and repairing 

railway lines and roads. Some worked in stone quarries, but the majority were employed in 

different French harbours, where their work consisted of unloading food, ammunition and 

timber, and then transferring them onto trains.  

 

 
General Jan Smuts inspects members of the South African Native Labour Corps in France 
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Those in charge of the SANLC units believed that the exceptional performance was due to 

the strict disciplinary regime that the African labourers were kept under. In particular, it was 

the provision that only South African officers were used, who were acquainted with the 

conditions under which the ‘native’ laboured in South Africa. It was believed that the labour 

output was considerably lower when members of the contingent were supervised by non-

South African officers. Furthermore, steps were taken to prevent SANLC members from 

working alongside European workers, as it was believed these men were of a lower physique 

and could not match the output of SANLC units. This would encourage Africans to slacken 

their pace of work.  

Particular care was taken in the selection of white officers who were to be in charge of the 

companies of the SANLC. A large proportion of them were chosen from the ranks of mine 

compound managers and officials from the Department of Native Affairs. These men, it was 

believed, were best acquainted with native labour in South Africa, as well as native customs 

and culture. It was said that they were more likely to be vigilant of any social contamination 

that would result if the native come into close contact with Europeans, especially European 

women.  

The single most important disciplinary measure imposed on the SANLC contingent was the 

closed compound system. Men were effectively imprisoned in their living quarters once their 

working shift was over. Compared to other labourers, the living quarters of the SANLC was 

similar to that of prisoners-of-war. All the exits were guarded, and the men were not allowed 

to leave the compound. 

 

 
Members of the South African Native Labour Corps in a very cold France 
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As trench warfare on the Western Front intensified, it became necessary to depart from the 

strict regulations governing the contingent. Officers in charge of the SANLC units were often 

transferred to fighting units of the British army at the front, and replaced by British soldiers 

who were not fit for battle, as well as South African officers who had very little experience in 

dealing with ‘native labour’.  

The South African government, facing increasing criticism for the concentration-like 

conditions that the black members of the SANLC were accommodated in, rather than 

considering abandoning the compound system, decided to disband the contingent in January 

1918. Charles’s service records do not show him transferring to any other unit afterwards, so 

it can only be assumed that he retained his position with the Corps until, for him, the war was 

over – and he had survived. 

 

 

 

 

 
A mural at the South African Delville Memorial, The Somme, France,  

depicting South Africans during WWI, including members of the  

South African Native Labour Corps (left)  

when the SS Mendi sank off the Isle of Wight,  

claiming the lives of 607 black troops of the Corps. 
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Medals and Awards 

 

 
 

Charles Bullock’s WWI Medal Index Card (MIC) 

Note the East London South Africa address 

However, it has not been ascertained why this was used,  

as Charles was in full-time employment in Rhodesia at the time. 
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Charles Bullock’s awards are, from left to right: 

Companion of the Order of St Michael and St George, 1914-18 War Medal, Victory Medal 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

SUPPLEMENT TO THE LONDON GAZETTE, 1 JANUARY 1941: 

 

CHANCERY OF THE ORDER OF SAINT MICHAEL AND SAINT GEORGE, 1st January, 

1941.  

The KING has been graciously pleased to give directions for the following appointments to 

the Most Distinguished Order of Saint Michael and Saint George:  

To be Additional Members of the Second Class, or Knights Commanders, of the said Most 

Distinguished Order:  

Charles Bullock, Esq. 

Secretary for Native Affairs, Chief Native Commissioner and Director of Native 

Development, Southern Rhodesia. 
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Torpedoed 

On the morning of 10 September 1918, the thirty-eight-year-old Charles sailed on board the 

SS Galway Castle out of Plymouth, bound for Cape Town. A passenger steamer of the 

Union-Castle Mail SS. Co., Ltd., London, the 7,988-ton SS Galway Castle was built in 1911 

by Harland & Wolff, Ltd., Belfast (of Titanic fame). In August 1914, she had been 

requisitioned as a troopship for deployment in the German West Africa campaign.  

Sailing in an armed convoy, the troopship went straight into a notorious danger zone at the 

entrance to the Channel, where the enemy submarines used to lay in wait. She carried a crew 

of 204 and some naval ratings, 346 civilian passengers (mostly third class), and almost 400 

invalided South African troops, some of them blind, or otherwise partly helpless on account 

of their wounds – a total of about 1,000 souls. 

At around 0700, on the morning of Thursday, 12 September 1918, and about 160 miles 

southwest of Fastnet Rock – 48° 50’N, 10° 40’W – U-Boat U-82, commanded by 

Kapitänleutnant Heinrich Middendorff, torpedoed the SS Galway Castle soon after she left 

the escort.  

 

 
The doomed SS Galway Castle, her back broken by a German torpedo 

 

Her back broken, the ship was taken in tow by Royal Navy tugs, Woonda and Epic, and later 

by the rescue tugs Cynic and Cartmel, while escorted by Ireland-based US Navy 

‘subchasers’, USS Allen, USS Caldwell, and USS Kimberley. The survivors were returned to 

Devonport, Plymouth, at the time home of the Royal Navy’s Fourth Destroyer Flotilla, on 

board the destroyers HMS Oriana and HMS Spitfire. Charles had spent ‘an exhausting time 

on an open raft in a heavy sea’, until he was eventually rescued. 

So severe was the damage, that it was thought that she would sink immediately, and it was 

apparent that U-82 was lining up for another attack. In the rush to abandon ship, several 

lifeboats were swamped by the heavy seas, and many finished up in the sea.  
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However, the U-boat did not mount a further attack, and the Galway Castle continued to 

wallow for three days. She finally sank on 15 September, having lost 143 of those on board, 

including several children. Their names are listed on the CWGC Hollybrook Memorial, 

Plymouth. 

 

 

 
CWGC Hollybrook Cemetery and Memorial, Plymouth 

 

The Aberdeen Journal of Tuesday 17 September 1918, reported that mail lost on the Galway 

Castle, was destined for the Union of South Africa, Rhodesia, Nyasaland, Northern Rhodesia, 

the Belgian Congo, Mauritius, the Bechuanaland Protectorate, South West Africa, and letters 

and parcels for the East Africa Expeditionary Force.  

The Manchester Evening News of the same date, published a statement from South Africa 

Premier General Louis Botha, in which he expresses his, “… abhorrence of the action of the 

Germans in torpedoing the Galway Castle and causing the deaths of so many peaceful 

citizens of South Africa”. 

A week after the tragedy, the ship’s sixth engineer reported in the Evening Express, saying 

that most of the engineers and firemen were killed in the explosion. The crew had great 

difficulty in getting the lifeboats into the stormy, rough sea, and two of these snagged as they 

were being lowered, depositing sixty women, children and ‘disabled soldiers’ into the sea. He 

added, “nothing could be done to save them … it was because of the stormy seas that the 

greatest loss of life took place”. 

An interesting footnote about the SS Galway Castle, is that it was one of the most active 

ships used in the Northern Force part of the German South West Africa campaign, led by 

General Louis Botha, and in which the 1st Rhodesia Regiment participated. 

Included in the list below, which shows a total of 140 voyages carried out from Cape Town to 

Walvis Bay in the relatively short campaign, is the SS Monarch, the ship that conveyed the 

1RR into war. 
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In September 1918, Charles gave up his commission on the grounds of ill health. It seems 

very likely that he had suffered some form of trauma from when the ship he was on was 

torpedoed, thus preventing him from further active service. In one of his letters to the War 

Office, he states that he had been discharged, “In August or September, 1918 … as medically 

unfit by a Medical Board at Richmond Hospital”.  

 

Upon his leaving the army, Charles was given the honorary rank of Lieutenant, as gazetted: 

 

SUPPLEMENT TO THE LONDON GAZETTE, 30 NOVEMBER, 1918. 14197 

OVERSEAS FORCES, SOUTH AFRICA. 

S. Afrn. Lab. Corps. 

Temp. Lt. C. Bullock relinquishes his commission on account of ill-health, and is granted the 

hon. rank of Lt., 29 Sept. 1918. 
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Charles was then given a period of leave in the UK, and on 30 September, he left for South 

Africa on board the SS Berwick Castle. 

 

 

 

 

 
Union Castle Mail Steamship SS Berwick 
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Expenses Claim 

 

 

 
Charles Bullock’s claim for reimbursement from the War Office, page 1 
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Charles Bullock’s claim for reimbursement, page 2 

 

 

On 16 November 1920, Charles wrote from the Native Commissioner’s office in Belingwe to 

the Secretary to the War Office, Whitehall, London, claiming a reimbursement of expenses 

incurred by him when he journeyed from Salisbury, Rhodesia, to England to enlist in the 

army.  

This claim precipitated a protracted string of communications between the War Office and 

the British High Commissioner in South Africa, with the former wanting to ascertain the 

exact circumstances of Charles’s departure from the British Army. It is very clear right from 

the outset that the War Office was not going to entertain the claim, and continued to 

ostensibly seek re-affirmation of Charles’s discharge from military service. 

By March 1922, the War Office, on the basis that they had had no further correspondence 

from Charles, closed the file, and Charles never received any reimbursement. 

The following are documents relating to the claim, ending in a hand-written draft of a letter – 

which was never typed and sent – quoting Army Orders, which do not allow for such a 

reimbursement. 
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Marriage and Old Age 

Known to his friends as ‘Charlie Ox’, the Tandavarai Bridge over the Nuanetsi River, 

Belingwe, was named after Charles. Tandavarai derives from the chiShona verb tandavara, 

which means to stretch (as in a limb or creeper). It would imply, that here was a man whose 

influence spread far and wide. However, one never knows with African names – they usually 

have a subtle and more penetrating meaning hidden to those not so well versed in the idiom 

of vernacular double entendre. It could mean that he was inquisitive and poking his nose into 

every nook and cranny in his quest for knowledge. Charles was, at one time, stationed at 

Belingwe.  

 

Charles married late in life, and would have been forty-four or forty-five years old at the 

time. 

 

The Morpeth Herald and Reporter, at the time wrote:  

“Regarding the marriage of Mr Bullock, it was rather romantic that he should meet his future 

wife when returning to Rhodesia following a holiday in the ‘old country’. After their 

marriage, Mr and Mrs Bullock took up residence at Salisbury, where Mrs Bullock had built 

to her own ideas a block of flats, which are said to be the most up-to-date and best-managed 

in the Colony.” 

 

 
 

Margaret Theresa and Charles William Bullock 
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Two passenger lists have been traced where Charles is sailing back to South Africa: one in 

1911, and the other in 1924, when he was aged thirty-one and forty-four respectively (see 

below).  

 

 
SS Dunluce Castle passenger list, 14 July 1911 

 

 

It is known from his WWI records that Charles was still single when he enlisted in the UK for 

WWI service, so Charles’s return trip that the Morpeth newspaper alludes to (above), that left 

London on 23 October 1924, on board the Union Castle Mail Steamship, SS Goorkha, was 

indeed the trip where Charles met Margaret Theresa Sanders. Margaret is listed as being a 

thirty-nine-year-old horticulturist (see below): 

 

 

 

 

 
SS Goorkha passenger list, 23 October 1924 

 

 

 

 

 



49 
 

Margaret Theresa Sanders 

Margaret was born in Richmond, London, sometime in April to June 1885; the actual entry is 

under the surname Sanders: 

 

 

 
Margaret Sanders birth register entry 

 

Thereafter, she is ‘counted’ in the 1891 Census, her mother, Theresa, and the family, now 

living in Paddington, London: 

 

 
Sanders family, 1891 Census 

 

It is noted from the census entry above, that Margaret’s mother, Theresa, is now listed as 

widowed, with two children, James (7) (name not clear, but in the 1901, the nineteen-year-old 

James Gilbert is recorded, so this would most certainly have been him) and Margaret Theresa 

(5). The two siblings are scholars at a school in Richmond, Surrey. Theresa’s younger sister 

and Margaret’s aunt, Mary Anne, was there at the time of the census. Theresa, recorded as the 

‘head’ of the family, is not working, but ‘living on her own means’, which would suggest that 

her late husband (name unknown), left her in a comfortable state. This family also had a 

domestic servant, twenty-three year old Annie Chandler, which supports the likelihood that 

they were not without financial security. 

Margaret’s next appearance is in the 1901 Census, where they are still residing in Paddington, 

London: 

 

 
Sanders family, 1901 Census 

 

Margaret (15) and her brother James (19) are still listed as scholars in Richmond, Surrey. 

Theresa continues to be self-sufficient, so much so that they still have a domestic servant, 

twenty-four-year-old Martha Walters. 

Little else is known of Margaret from 1901, until when she met Charles on the SS Goorkha 

en route to South Africa. 
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Margaret received the 1953 Coronation Medal. 

 

 
1953 Coronation Medal 

Margaret passed away in St Anne’s Hospital, Salisbury, Southern Rhodesia on 30 January 

1964, aged seventy-eight, having survived Charles by twelve years. 

She had been suffering from leukaemia. She was interred in Warren Hills Cemetery, 

Salisbury. 

 

 
Margaret Bullock’s Death Notice 
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End of a Full Life 

Charles passed away of a heart failure on 1 November 1952, at his home, 6 Fairbridge 

Avenue, Salisbury, Southern Rhodesia. He had been suffering from major heart conditions 

for the last eighteen months leading up to his death. 

 

 

 
Charles Bullock’s Death Notice 
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An extract from the Rhodesian Deaths Register,  

showing the entries for both Charles and Margaret Bullock 

 

 
Rhodesia Herald 3 November 1952 

 

Charles’s funeral service was held at the Salisbury Anglican Cathedral, at which Prime 

Minister Sir Godfrey Huggins and other leading Rhodesian figures attended. The High Court 

of Southern Rhodesia adjourned for the whole afternoon of the funeral as a sign of respect. 

Charles was interred in Salisbury Cemetery. 

His wife, Margaret, and his two daughters, Shirley and Elizabeth, survived Charles. 
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Obituaries 

 

 
Rhodesia Herald 3 November 1952, p1 
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Rhodesia Herald 3 November 1952, p2 
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The Morpeth Herald and Reporter, 30 January 1953: 

 

“A former Morpeth man who became one of the foremost authorities upon the customs and 

habits of the Southern Rhodesian natives, died at his home in Salisbury just before 

Christmas. He was Mr. Charles Bullock C.M.G., the son of the late Mr. William Bullock, the 

gifted headmaster at St. James’ School, Wellway, Morpeth, half a century ago. 

Taking medical advice, he went to South Africa in 1903 and as a young man, spent the 

greater part of his early days in the remote parts of the Colony [of Southern Rhodesia] where 

he made a close study of the natives in their own environments, as well as their habits, 

customs and reactions to the presence of the white man. 

He became an authority upon the subject, with a reputation extending far beyond the Colony 

and was the author of several books upon the natives. 

Mr. Bullock joined the Civil Service and served for a short time in the Law Department 

before transferring to the Native Department, where he found his true métier. 

His book ‘Mashona Laws and Customs’ in 1912 was the first ethnological work dealing with 

these people, and one that furnished the key to subsequent investigation. A more 

comprehensive work ‘The Mashona’ followed in 1927 and has since become a standard work 

at many Universities.  

He served on the Western Front for three years during the 1914-18 war. A few weeks before 

the end of the hostilities he was torpedoed while aboard a ship, but was rescued after an 

exhausting experience on an open raft. 

Returning to Rhodesia, he resumed work in the Native Department and served in no fewer 

than 18 Native Districts before his appointment as Chief Native Commissioner. He was also 

Secretary for Native Affairs. While serving in the districts he was a leading figure in Defence 

Matters. 

Mr. Bullock had the complete confidence of the natives though he was a frank critic of them 

when necessary. In an address presented to him in 1936, Africans said that his criticisms did 

not hurt them because they came from ‘a sympathetic father’. 

He found time-apart from his administrative duties to take an active interest in a number of 

other spheres, including the Boy Scouts, of which he was Chief Commissioner of the 

Salisbury District. He was also a member of the Scientific Association. 

He retired from the Native Department in 1940 after 37 years servicein the Government 

Departments. 

The funeral was preceded by a service in Salisbury Anglican Cathedral, which was attended 

by the Prime Minister, Sir Godfrey Huggins, and many other leading figures in Southern 

Rhodesia who had been his colleagues.  

Upon hearing of his death, the High Court of Southern Rhodesia, in Salisbury, adjourned 

from shortly before lunch until next day as a tribute to his memory. 

Mr. Bullock is survived by his wife and two daughters”. 
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Funeral 

 

 
Rhodesia Herald 4 November 1952 
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Salisbury Cemetery grave index card 

 

 
Entry in the cemetery register 
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Publications and Writings 

Learning as they went, Native Commissioners also made time to record their findings, and 

Charles Bullock may be taken as an outstanding example of this. His book Mashona Laws 

and Customs, published in 1912, was the first ethnological work dealing with these people. 

Other books followed: 

 Mashona Laws and Customs, 1912 (three-page document) 

 The Mashona and the Matabele, Juta 1950 

 The Mashona : The Indigenous Natives of S. Rhodesia, Juta 1927 

 Rina: A Story of Africa, Juta 1949 (novel) 

 

Charles was listed in the International Directory of Anthropologists. 

He also wrote poems in chiShona. 

In addition to this, Charles frequently contributed to the Southern Rhodesia Native Affairs 

Department Annual, NADA, including being the editor for the 1945 annual.  

 

 
 

His contributions included: 

 Notes on the Ba-Venda, 1926. Extract: 
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 Thoughts on a Show, 1929. Extract: 

 

 
 

 Can a Native make a Will? 1929. Extract: 

 

 
 

 

 On the Origin and Nature of Totenism, 1931. Extract: 
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 The Birth of a Language, 1931. Extract: 

 

 
 

 

 Foreword, 1938. Extract: 
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 Review, The Native Woman under the Natal Code of Native Law, 1942 

 Review, The Atlantic Charter and Africa from an American Standpoint, 1943 

 Editorial, 1945. Extract: 

 

 
 

 

 Bushman Paintings, Zimbabwe and Romanticists, 1949. Extract: 

 

 
 

 Review, The Succession of Bemba Chiefs, 1950 

 The Origin and Nature of Totenism Among the Mashona, 1951. Extract: 
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